
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
1325 G STREET N.W., SUITE 800 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

 

ORDER 

 

June 24, 2016 

 

FORMAL CASE NO. 1017, IN THE MATTER OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND 
DESIGNATION OF STANDARD OFFER SERVICE IN THE DISTRICT OF 
COLUMBIA, Order No. 18257 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. By this Order, the Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia 
(“Commission”) resumes a review of the process for providing Standard Offer Service (“SOS”) 
in the District of Columbia.  Interested persons may submit comments consistent with this Order 
within 30 days and reply comments within 45 days of the date of this Order. 

II. BACKGROUND 

2. By statute, the Commission has the option of conducting competitive bid 
procedures for the selection of a retail electricity supplier or suppliers to provide SOS for the 
District of Columbia after February 7, 2005; authorizing the electric company, the Potomac 
Electric Power Company (“Pepco”), as a wholesale electricity supplier, to conduct competitive 
bid procedures to obtain third-party contracts to provide SOS for the District of Columbia after 
February 7, 2005; or both.1  By Order issued March 1, 2004, the Commission adopted a 
wholesale model in which Pepco, as the SOS Administrator, conducts competitive bidding to 
obtain third-party contracts to provide SOS for the District.2 

3. The Commission is periodically required to review the SOS Administrator’s SOS 
program in the District and make any changes or adjustments to SOS as competitive 
developments in the District of Columbia change.3  In conducting this review and considering 
options for improving SOS, the Commission, among other things, must seek to ensure that the 
price for SOS will not hinder the development of a competitive electricity supply market in the 

                                                 
1 D.C. Official Code § 34-1509 (d) (1) (2012 Repl.). 

2 Formal Case No. 1017, In the Matter of the Development and Designation of Standard Offer Service in the 
District of Columbia (“Formal Case No. 1017”), Order No. 13118, rel. March 1, 2004. 

3 15 DCMR § 4102.2 (2015). 
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District, provide appropriate SOS contract lengths, protect against any SOS Administrator ’s 
failure to provide service, ensure an appropriate rate design, provide for a contingency plan in 
the event of insufficient or inadequate bids, and determine the threshold financial viability of 
wholesale bidders.4 

4. On February 1, 2013, in Order No. 17064, the Commission initiated a review of 
the process for providing SOS.5  Additionally, the Commission invited comments on specific 
questions and a number of interested persons filed comments in response.6 

5. On April 30, 2014, Pepco Holdings, Inc. (“PHI”), the parent company of Pepco, 
and Exelon Corporation (“Exelon”) announced Exelon’s proposed purchase of PHI and, on June 
18, 2014, submitted an application for a change of control to the Commission.  The Commission 
recognized that its decision on the application could potentially impact the operation of the SOS 
program because Pepco is currently acting as the SOS Administrator of the District’s annual SOS 
generation auctions and Exelon, through its subsidiaries, has been a frequent winning bidder at 
these auctions.  The Commission concluded that the prospect of a subsidiary of Exelon bidding 
at future auctions where an Exelon-owned Pepco is functioning as the SOS Administrator might 
raise issues that interested persons would want to address and that the Commission would want 
to consider as part of its review of the SOS process.  Additionally, an Exelon-owned Pepco 
might have additional issues that it would want to raise with respect to the provision of SOS 
service in the District.  As the Commission had not completed its review of the SOS program 
when the proposed merger was announced, we, therefore, chose to suspend our review until such 
time as we completed our consideration of the merger.  On June 17, 2016, we issued a final order 
on the merger,7 and, therefore, the Commission is resuming a review of the process for providing 
SOS. 

III. DISCUSSION 

6. Given the passage of time, we ask the interested persons who filed comments in 
response to Order No. 17064 to review their previously filed comments and revise them as 
necessary to refresh the record.  We also invite interested persons who did not comment earlier 
to do so now.  The questions are set forth below:   

• Should Pepco continue to act as the SOS Administrator  or 
should the Commission choose another option such as a 
retail model for providing SOS? 

                                                 
4 See D.C. Code §§ 34-1509 (c), (d)(1)(A), and (e) (2012 Repl.). 

5 See Formal Case No. 1017, Order No. 17064, rel. February 1, 2013. 

6 On May 28, 2013 in Formal Case No. 1017, Pepco filed a Motion for Leave to Respond and Response of 
Pepco to Sur-Reply Comments of the Office of the People’s Counsel in this matter.  Those comments are accepted 
into the record. 

7 Formal Case No. 1119, In the Matter of the Joint Application of Exelon Corporation, Pepco Holdings, Inc., 
Potomac Electric Power Company, Exelon Energy Delivery Company, LLC and New Special Purpose Entity, LLC 
for Authorization and Approval of Proposed Merger Transaction, Order No. 18243, rel. June 17, 2016. 
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• Should the Administrative Charge be modified?  The 
Administrative Charge is the mechanism by which the SOS 
Administrator  recovers its incremental costs for procuring 
and providing SOS.  These costs, include, but are not 
limited to, uncollectibles, the Commission’s Market 
Monitoring Consultant costs, wholesale bidding expenses, 
working capital expenses, wholesale supply transaction 
costs related to wholesale supplier administration and 
transmission service administration, wholesale payment and 
invoice processing, incremental billing process expenses, 
customer education costs, incremental system costs, costs 
related to the purchase/management of the CREF program, 
and legal and regulatory filing expenses related to SOS 
requirements.8 

• Should the adder be eliminated?  Removing the adder 
would drastically reduce or potentially eliminate the 
administrative credit that results from overcharging the 
Administrative Charge.  It would, moreover, eliminate 
additional oversight on the adder.  However, removing the 
adder would also make the Administrative Charge vary 
more from year to year.  Note that the original purpose of 
the adder is to reflect the retail electricity suppliers’ 
marketing costs in SOS rates in order to ensure that the 
suppliers are not placed at a competitive disadvantage.9  
Such a purpose may not be achieved just because of using 
the adder. 

• Should the SOS Administrator  continue to be compensated 
for the costs of administrating SOS through a margin that is 
calculated on a volumetric, per kilowatt hour charge basis 
or instead be paid on an annual fixed-cost basis?  Is a 
volumetric, per kilowatt hour charge consistent with the 
goal of energy efficiency?  If the provider is paid on a fixed 
annual basis, how much should they receive and how 
should this charge be split amongst Pepco’s rate classes?  
Specifically, how much of a return/profit should the SOS 
Administrator receive above its costs?  Should the margin 
be fixed at a 3-year historical average?  What are the 
reasonable options? 

                                                 
8 15 DCMR § 4103.4 (2015). 

9 Formal Case No. 1017, Order No. 13268, ¶¶ 102-108, rel. August 19, 2004. 
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• Should a peak load ceiling for large commercial SOS 
customers be established where large commercial users 
would be eligible only for hourly priced service?  If a peak 
load ceiling is established, what should be the peak load 
ceiling?  For example, this ceiling could be set at a peak 
load of 600 kilowatts. 

• Currently, the SOS Administrator  procures one (1) year 
SOS electricity contracts for the large commercial customer 
load and three (3) year SOS electricity contracts for the 
small commercial and residential customer load.  Should 
the length of these contracts be changed?  If so, why? 

• Currently, the bidding for SOS is scheduled on an annual 
basis with two bid days, one in December and one in 
January.  Should the bidding be scheduled differently and if 
so, what schedule should be used for the bidding?  For 
example, there could be a larger spread between bid dates, 
as in Maryland where they procure most residential SOS in 
October and April. 

• Currently, SOS is procured using a sealed-bid auction 
format.  Should the bidding method be changed?  If so, 
what bidding method should be used and why?  For 
example, a reverse descending clock auction could be an 
alternative bidding method. 

• Is there any other aspect of the SOS program that should be 
changed in light of competitive developments in the District 
of Columbia? 

7. In addition, given the passage of time and intervening events, the Commission 
invites interested persons to submit comments on the following additional questions:   

• The SOS Administrator will be revising its bid form 
spreadsheet to comply with the Commission’s December 
2015 Order requiring all low-income and non-low income 
residential customers (i.e., Electric Company Rate 
Schedules Residential (“R”) and Residential Aid Discount 
(“RAD”) as well as All Electric (“AE”) and RAD-AE) to 
be bid together.  Given that the SOS Administrator is 
already making this one change, should it revise its bid 
sheets further by merging additional rate classes for bidding 
purposes?  If so, what classes should be merged together?  
For example, should the R and AE rate class customer 
loads be combined for bidding purposes?  Should some 
other bid categories be removed, such as the Large 
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Commercial demand charge, which is frequently bid at 
$0/kW?  Alternatively, similar to New Jersey’s Basic 
General Service auction, should the SOS Administrator ask 
for a single price offer for the entire SOS contract period 
and administratively allocate the charge to each class?  If 
so, how? 

• Some interested persons have recommended that the SOS 
rates should be a single fixed price and not feature any 
time-varying rates or different rates by usage quantity.  
Should such an adjustment be made and, if so, which rates 
should be simplified? 

• The SOS Administrator currently solicits a full 
requirements product.  This product is for a fixed 
percentage of the SOS load (either Residential and Small 
Commercial or Large Commercial).  It includes many 
components (i.e., energy, capacity, renewable energy 
credits (“RECs”), ancillary services, load shaping, etc.).  
Should the District of Columbia keep this type of SOS 
product, or should it revise the product being procured?  
For example, in the default service program in Illinois, the 
utilities procure blocks of energy, not percentages of load, 
buy capacity in the PJM market, MISO market, or through 
a separate Request for Proposals (“RFP”), and have a 
separate RFP for RECs.  The utilities are the ones in charge 
of combining these and other components together to 
provide full requirements service to ratepayers and the 
Illinois Commission has approved separate RFPs for RECs, 
energy, and capacity procurement.  Is this or some other 
form a better option for the District of Columbia or should 
it stay with the current bundled product? 

• Should bidders or their guarantors be required to be rated 
by at least one credit rating agency?  If not, what credit 
protections should these bidders provide to the SOS 
Administrator to guarantee performance? 

• What method should be used for performance assurance?  
Currently the SOS Administrator requires winning bidders 
to post 15 percent of the value of the contract.  Should this 
be continued?  Is the percent of value adequate?  Should 
some form of mark-to-market calculation be used such as 
that used in Maryland? 

• Currently, the Commission’s SOS rules provide that  
“[n]inety (90) days following the Commission’s approval 
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of the selection of winning bidders for the final tranche, the 
Commission will disclose upon request (a) the total number 
of bidders, and (b) the names of the winning bidders.”10  In 
addition, the RFP for SOS states that “[a]ny information 
about the supply procurement results that does not provide 
supplier-specific information, or disclose any individual bid 
prices may be made public by the Commission and OPC, at 
their discretion after all tranches of bidding for that year of 
SOS are completed. Examples of such information that can 
be released include, but are not limited to, the total number 
of bids submitted, or the range in price between the lowest 
and the highest bids submitted.”11  Do these provisions 
provide the right balance between allowing bidders to 
protect their competitive advantages in bidding versus 
providing consumers and other members of the public with 
a transparent procurement process? Should more 
information be released to the public and if so, what should 
be released?  Should the information be released earlier 
than 90 days and if so, when? 

• Currently, bidders must turn in complete qualifications 
documents by the due date specified in the RFP.  If there 
are errors in the documents, the bidders are allowed to cure 
those errors, but only up until the due date.  If documents 
are submitted early there is sufficient time to cure 
deficiencies.  If not, there is not.  Should a cure period be 
added after the due date to allow for the remedy of any 
deficiencies and if so, what should be the cure period? 

• Are there additional enhancements that the Commission 
should incorporate into its procedures to assure a level 
playing field when affiliates of the SOS Administrator are 
participating in the bidding and if so, what enhancements 
should be included? 

8. Finally, on October 17, 2013, the Community Renewables Energy Amendment 
Act (“CREA”) was enacted.  CREA provides  for the SOS Administrator to obtain some portion 
of the electric supply from Community Renewable Energy Facilities (“CREFs”).12  Given the 
fact that CREA will be implemented in part through the SOS program, the Commission wants to 
identify how CREA might affect the operation of the SOS program.  The following questions 
                                                 
10 15 DCMR § 4111.5 (2015). 

11 Formal Case No. 1017, Standard Offer Service Working Group’s Proposed Wholesale Full Requirements 
Service Agreement and Request for Proposals (“RFP”) for the 2015 to 2016 SOS Solicitation, filed October 1, 2015, 
RFP § 9.6. 
12 D.C. Code § 34-1518.01 (i) (2015). 
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focus on issues that may need to be addressed to ensure the proper integration of CREA and the 
SOS procurement process:   

• What data, if any, would a wholesale supplier need to know 
about the CREA Program to better prepare its SOS bid?  
(e.g. the number and capacity of CREFs, the number of 
CREF subscribers) 

• Will the implementation of CREA cause wholesale 
suppliers to adjust their bid prices in the SOS procurement 
process?  If so, how? 

• Are there any changes that would need to be made to the 
SOS process once CREA is in effect?  If so, identify the 
changes and when they would need to be made? 

• What additional issues, if any, related to the 
implementation of CREA or the integration of CREA and 
the SOS procurement process need to be brought to the 
attention of the Commission? 

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT: 

9. Interested persons shall have 30 days from the date of this Order to file 
comments, consistent with this Order, and 45 days to file reply comments. 

A TRUE COPY: BY DIRECTION OF THE COMMISSION: 

 

 

CHIEF CLERK: BRINDA WESTBROOK- SEDGWICK 
 COMMISSION SECRETARY  
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